UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

22-20521-CR- SCOLAIGOODMAN

CASE NO.:

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) -
15 U.S.C. § 78ff

17 C.FR. § 240.10b-5
18 U.S.C. § 1343

18 U.S.C. § 981(2)(1)(C)

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V.

: THEODORE FARNSWORTH and
. MITCHELL LOWE,

Defendants.
A/ -
INDICTMENT
The Grand Jury charges:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

| FILED BY__KAN

Nov 2, 2022

AMNGELA E. NOBLE

CLERK LLE, DIST. CT.

5. D OF FLA. - Miami

D.C.

At various times material to this Indictment:

Entities

1. Helios & Matheson Analytics Inc. (“HMNY?”) was a publicly traded company with

offices. in Miami, Florida, and New York, New York. HMNY’s common stock traded on the

‘NASDAQ exchange until in or around February 2019, after which it was delisted from the

- exchange and began trading “over the counter.” HMNY described its product oiferings as “arange

.

- of technology platforms focusing on big data, artificial intelligence, business intelligence, social

listening, and consumer-centric technology.”

- 2.. . MoviePass Inc. (“MoviePass”) was a privately held company with offices in New -



kaylaallen
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' “York; New'York. MoviePass offered a sub‘scripti‘en]ser\}ice through-which subscribers paid a flat

. rn:'ontnly t"ee in :exchange for a certain number o‘fd"mo,vie tickets ner month. ,TQ use the servrce, a
- shbScriber:yvould.- select a mevie, theater, and show time through the MoviePass application on the
Sunscriber’s srnartphene, and then use a MoviePass-branded ‘debrt card that was loaded with the
cost of the movfieticket to pay at the selected tneater, : |

- 3. -+ "The US Securities.and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), is an agency within the

o7 éxecutive ;branch of t_he federal government“responsible for regulating the securities. markets,

ks 'including the jssuan_c_e, nlarketing and trading of securiti‘es. PEdNY.secnrities were re'gulated by

-~ the SEC.- L'Pnb"li'c‘- cdmpanies like HMNY provide infermation to the S‘EC and investors by filing -
_‘certain. SEC. Forms such as the Form 8-K and Form DEF 14A w1th the SEC usrng the agency ’s
’ ”Electromc Data Gathering, Analys1s and Retrieval (“EDGAR”) system ‘EDGAR is a database
- -available to.investors and the general public via the Internet.

| Defendhnts ‘

4 Defendant THEODORE FARNSWORTH wes an individual who resided in the

s S(_)rithernfDistriet Q’f F lorida and-served as the Cniet Executive Dﬂicer and Chairman of the Board

' Aof Drrectors of HMNY. |

5 Defendant J. MITCHELL LOWE was.an 1nd1v1dua1 who resrded in the Southern

o "D1str1ct of E lorlda and Puerto. Vallarta Mexrco LOWE served as. the Chief Executive Officer of

S f;MQVreBass .-zzBefore joining MoviePass, LQWE was a co—foundr_ng:exeeutrve of Netﬂlx and former

President of Redbex. ’



COUNT 1
Securities Fraud .
(15 U. S C. §8 78](b), 78ff 17.C. FR § 240.10b-5)
-1: ! The General Allegatlons sectlonr-of thls,lnd1etment*1s hereby re-alleged and fully

incorporated herein by reference.

25 .-From at]east in'.or around August’2(l 1 7 and continuing through at least in or around
‘ *March 2019 ‘within the Southern D1strlct of Florida and elsewhere the defendants

THEODORE FARNSWORTH, and

" J. MITCHELL LOWE

-

P .;:did'-knoiyingly and willfully, in connection with the purchase;and sale of asecurity, that s, common

« stock:issued :by ‘HMNY, by use of the ‘means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, and by -

“ ¢ vouse of the malls d1rectly and mdlrectly, use and employ, and cause others to-use and employ,

: ‘~'»_,man1pulatlve :and: deceptlve dev1ces and ‘contrivances, in V1olat10n of T1tle 17 Code of Federal

L Regulatrons Sectlon 240.10b- 5 by (a) employmg, and causing others to employ, dev1ces

... schemes, and artifices-to:défraud;.(b) _maklng, and causing others to make, _untrue state_ments of

L :"s‘:'material fact-and omitting to state, and causing others to omit to state, material facts neeessary in

.. < order to:make the statements.made inthe light of the‘oircumstances un‘der ‘Whlch they were made,

not mlsleadmg, and (c) engagmg, and causmg others to engage, in acts, practlces and courses of

o :busmess which. operated and ‘would operate asa fraud and’ decelt upon persons in V1olat1on of T1tle |
P :A15 Umted States Code, Sectlons 785 and 78ff Tltle 17, Code of Federal Regulatrons Sectron

e 240.105; and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2.

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIF ICE

S 3w o Ttwas the purpose of the scheme and artlﬁce for the defendants THEODORE

f:_FARNSWORT H-and J. MITCHELL LOWE to unJustly ennch themselves by (1) makmg |

';materlally ~false: and -,m1slead1ng representatlons to 1nvest0rs relatlng,_to,the- busmesses and



" operations of HMNY and MoviePass, including HMNY’s and MoviePass’s product offerings,
technology, and capabilities, in order td artificially increase the price of HMNY common stock
and attract new investors; (ii) concealing from investors the true facts; (iii) diverting the proceeds
~ of the scheme and artifice for their personal use and benefit through bonuses and misuse of
. corporate funds for personal expenses; and (iv) concealing the scheme from regulators, law
enforcement, investors, .and the media.

‘MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE

- The manner. and means by which the defendants sought to accomphsh the purpose of the |
scheme and artifice included, but were not hmlted to, the followmg o | "
. 4. . - To artificially inflate the- price of HMNY common stock and attract new 1nvestors
THEODORE . FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE made materially false and
: mlsleadlng representations ‘about the businesses and operatlons of HMNY and Mov1ePass F or
example, FARNSWORTH and LOWE represented that: |
‘a.. MoviePass’s new.$9.95 “unlimited” plan was tested sustainable and would be’
proﬁtable or break even on subscription fees alone; -
b.. HMNY had technology and capabilities it would use, andlwas Ii.sing, te generate
. revenue by analyzmg and monetizing MoviePass’s subscriber data | o
‘¢ ‘MoviePass also had multlple non- subscriptlon revenue streams that weuld make
E MOV1ePass proﬁtable and even self-sufficient rather than dependent on HMNY for
funding; and | | o
~d. - MoviePass’s cost of goods, as reflected in the nnmber of tickets each snbseriber
- purchased . using his or her subscription, was naturally declining ever time

" consistent with FARNSWORTH’s and LOWE?’s stated expectations.




5.

All of these representations, which were made to artificially inflate HMNY s stock

price and attract new investors, were materially false and misleading. In truth and in fact, and as

THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE knew:

6.

a.

The $9.95“unlimited” plan was a témporary marketing gimmick to drive subscriber
growth, and MoviePass. was losing money as a result; -

HMNY did not possess the technology or capabilities to generate revenue by
analyzing MoviePass’s “subscriber data and had not integrated any -HMNY
technology or capabilities into thejMoviePass application; -

MoviePass did .not have non-subscription revenue streams that.would make

 MoviePass self-sufficient or otherwise offset the losses MoviePass experienced as

a result of the unprofitable $9.95 “unlimited” plan; and
Behind the scenes, MoviePass was actively preventing subscribers from using the

purportedly. “unlimited’ service for which they had paid because FARNSWORTH

- and LOWE personally directed MoviePass employees to “throttle” subscribers

who “most frequently used the service to buy movie tickets. and then

FARNSWORTH and LOWE concealed the true nature of their “tactics’ from

investors and subscribers.

’ In furtherance of the scheme, the defendants, THEODORE FARNSWORTH and

. Ji MITCHELL LOWE, made these materjally false and misleading representations in press

releases, SEC filings, interviews on podcasts and on television, and in print and online media, all

of which were intended to reach, and at times-did in fact reach, investors and the. general public

throughout the United States, including within the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere.




| FARN SWQliTH and LOWE arranged the media a;ppearances and authéred, reviewed, approved,
issued, and’ diisseminat.ed_kthe press releases and SEC filings.
7.  To conceal the scheme from reguiators, J. MITCHELL LOWE also made
materially false and misleading statements.in sworn testimony to the SEC.
HMNY’s Acquisition of MoviePass
8. . By 2017, MoviePass was running out of money. MoviePass had been operating at-
a loss for yeafs and was unable to obtain additional financing. J. MITCHELL LOWE was on
the verge of shutting 'dowh MoviePass’s business Qperations when he met THEODORE
FARNSWORTH.
’ 0. On or about Auggst 15, 20V1‘7, at the direction of THE;ODORE FARNSWORTH
- and J. MITCHELL LOWE-, HMNY issued a press release announcing that HMNY ﬂad agreed -
to acqﬁire a majority ownership inter_es’; in MoviePass (the “Acquisition”).‘ HMNY also announced
: _‘ that MoviePass had launched a new nationwide subscription program that eﬁablegl new subscribers
to see “un_limite;l” mO_Vies&n theaters with no blackout dates for a flat monthly fee of $§.95 . The
strategic rationale fo; the Acquisition, according to the bress release, was to “increase shareholder 7
- .value” by ‘—gsing HMNY’s “big data” and “artificial intelligence” capabilities to monetize
MoviePass’s subscriber data; including from the new subscribers Mox'fi(‘:Pass expected to sign up
asa result'“o-f the $9.95 “unlimited” plan. \
10.. As aterm of the Aqquisitioﬁ, MoviePass had agreed, following thé;élosing -of the
| ,Acquisit‘iroh?té' apply for listing and seek to begin trading on the NASDAQ or the New Yo}k Stock-
: Exchange:by Marché 1»,'2>0.:1~8, and HMNY wbulc_l remain the majority- sharehcl)lderr of MoviePass.
’ 11. Beginnihg with the announcement of the Acquisition, -TP.I-E'ODORE '

FARN SW-.ORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE launched a campaign to artificially inﬂate the price



I

of HMNY common stock by puBIicly promoting materially false and misleading information, as
described below. FARNSWORTH and LOWE appeared for numerous intéwiews ‘on television,
“and in print and online média, available throughout the United States and élsewhere, including
within the Southém District of Florida. For example, FARNSWORTH was inte;rviewed by the
- Mfami Herald for an article titled “Hollywood- Is Being Run Out of Miami.” . FARNSWORTH-
and LOWE also issued, or caused to be issued, numerous press relea’sés on behalf of Hl\/[N‘Y and
MoviePass,- maﬁy‘ofrwhicﬁ were disseminated through Business Wire via the Internet to media
outlets thrbughout the United States and elsewhere, including within the Southern District of
Florida. Many of these interviews: and press releases were filed with the U.S. Securities and
Exchange. Commission (“SEC”) on Form DEF 14A and Form 8-K, respectively, and a\;ailable
online via the SEC’s EDGAR website. o
12. Foﬁowing ‘phe Acquisition, HMNY raised hundreds of millions of dollars from debt
and equity offerings. This included money‘raisecli from three sets of coﬁvertible notes in November
201 7, January 2018, and June 2018; as well as from three sets of equi_ty gfferings in February 291 g,
April 2018, and October 2018. | |
13. THEODORE FARNSWORTH’s compensation was based, in part, on the sale of
HMNY secufities. Tn or around mid-December 2017, FARNSWORTH negotiated a $1,000,000
bonus for his role in- raisiﬁg .capital up to.that point. And in or around March 2018,
FARNSWORTH negotiated_é $1,500,000 bonus for his role in completed oﬁerings of HMNY .
securities to‘taliri'g: $190,000,000 in gross proceeds since mid-December 2017.
14. THEODORE FARNSWORTH’s and J. MITCHELL LOWE’s employmenf
agreements also provided for the payment of multi-million-dollar bonuses based on milestones

tied to the stock price of HMNY. -



Defendants Made Matertally False and Misleading. Representatlons About MoviePass’s
Subscrlptwn Model

‘15, In the course. of negot1at1ng the Acqu1s1t1on THEODORE FARNSWORTH
proposed toJ. MITCHELL LOWE that MoviePass slash its prlce point and offer an ‘unlimited”
v plan where for $9 95 per month subscrrbers could see “any movie, > any. theater any day.” On or
_about- July 6 2017 LOWE emalled MoviePass executlves about FARNSWORTH’S proposal "
WthhLOWE _acknowledged_ Would cause,MovrePass to 'loseimoneye Wrrtrng.
| Ok now for the crazy idea. ‘I would like each of you to tell me why- thisis a
‘bad idea. T'want to change our one and only pricing to $9.95 per month. A
- movie a day. Try it for'Free for either2 weeks.or 1 month. Please no reason
- to tell me how. much money we could lose :
Tn .resp‘ohse to’ L_OWE’s ‘,ernail, and at Various times thereafter, members of the MovielDass :
executive‘ tea‘ml conﬁrrned_to FARNSWORTH and LOWE that the $9.’95,;‘unlirnited"’ plan was
u_npr'oﬁtah‘le andlunsustainable ‘ | | | |
16. R Behevmg that HMNY’s stock prlce was t1ed in part, to Mov1el;ass ’s subscriber
count, THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE launched the $9. 95 ~
':“unhmlted plan as a marketmg g1mm1ck to attract new subscnbers and 1ncrease the pnce of
HMNY stock In response 1o questions about whether the $9.95 “unhmlted” plan was “too good
to be ~true,’»’ VFA_RNSWORTH and LOWE rnade materrally false and misleading representations
'that the _plan had he‘en testedand was a proﬁtable and su’stainable buslness model, when in fact
o they | knew it had not been tested. and was neither profitable nor sustamable
| l7. ~* For eyample on or about August 16, 2017 THEODORE FARN SWORTH and-J.
MITCHELL LOWE appeared for a joint interview on Fox Business.. durrng ‘which they were:
4 speciﬁcally asked Whether'MoviePass would lose money on the $9.95 “unlimited” plan. LOWE

promoted the materially false narrative that the $9.95 “unlimited” plan-would not Jose money even




money:

LOWE: We have figured out a way to g1ve people a deal where they cannot believe we
can-even afford to glve

Interviewer: Yea, because you lose money.
LOWE: Yea, no, we actually don’t. Uh, and.

. )
though he had privately acknowledged weeks earlier that it was a “crazy idea” that would lose-
. Interviewer: How do you not lose money?

| LOWE: We have built a system that attracts people - a price pomt that attracts people that
only go three to six times a year.

i

18.  J. MITCHELL LOWE'’s representations were materially false and misleading

_because, in truth and in fact, and as the defendants both knew, neither HMNY nor MoviePass had
tested the $9.95 “unﬁmited” plan, which had Only.been proposed for the first time internally onI}t
weeks before. The defendants also knew LOWE’s 'representations_' were materially false and
' misleading because, in reality, the defendants knew the $9.95 “unlimited” plan W(_)uld lose money-
19. On or abeut August' 16,°2017, J. MITCHELL LOWE appeared for a print
intérview for Variety:com, which HMNY filed with the SEC on Form DEF 14A, and again
’ Lp.romoted,the materially false narrative that the $9.95 “unlimitedj’s’ plan was profitable and
sustainable:
Interviewer: You are operating at a loss and subsidizing the tickets your. customers buy.
AMC claims that at some point you will have to ra1se your prlces or youw’ll go out of
' busmess Are they correct?
LOWE: The answer is no. They 'don’t understand our business model.:
20. . MITCHELL LOWE’s _representation was materially false and misleading

because, in truth and in fact and as the defendants both knew, the $9.95 “unlimited” plan was a

temporary measure that was unprofitable.




21.  On or about September 22, 2017, THEODORE FARNSWORTH appeared for a
print interview with Pipeline Data, LLC (“Pipeline Data), which HMNY filed with the SEC on
Form DEF 14A. FARNSWORTH repeated the materially false claims that the $9.95 “unlimited”
‘plan had been tested and proven profitable:

Interviewer: How is the $9.95 pricing going to work within your business model?

FARNSWORTH: MoviePass has been around for five years, so we have a wealth of

historical data. At $39, the average customer would go to four movies a month. At $29, the

average dropped to three movies & month. When MoviePass went to $19, the average
customer went to two movies a month. So we think we can be profitable on the
subscriptions at $9.95 and then make the real money from the additional revenue sources.

The size of our customer base will give us a lot of leverage. -

Interviewer: So, you think you(cari break even on the subscriptions alone?

FARNSWORTH: I'm confident that we will. We already- see it in our ﬁrst 30 days at
$9 95 Usage was even lower than we anticipated.

- 22.  THEODORE FARNSWORTH’s representations were materially false and
misleading because, in truth aﬁd in fact, and as the defendants yboth knew, no testing had been doner
on the $9.95 “unii_mited” plan and it was a temporary gimmick that was unprofitable.

23.  Within weeks of THEODORE FARNSWORTH’s Pipelin'e Data interview, J.
- MITCHELL LOWE privately inquired about changing the $9.95 “unlimited” plan that he
publicly claimed was sustainable. On or about October 6, 201.7, LOWE emailed a team of
MoviePass .executives to request “everyones [sic] feedback on removing theaters who charge
above $12 or $13. Thoughts?” In response, one MoviePass executive wrote: |

Tricky situation. This creates a few different issues in a few different areasr.

First, it remeves a majority of theaters in large markets: NY.C, LA, DC, SF, Seattle,

Philadelphia. Across only the top 15 major networks it impacts, it affects 50% of our user
base.

Aok

10




Then we get into the press/publicity aspect ofit. Basicallyfi,"thaf would give AMC V.alidati’on
that they were right all along; that this is not a sustainable product and it completely kills
any credibility we have left.

» 24. THEQDORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE continued to make
similar materially false and misléading representations about the profitability and sustainability of
_the $9.95 “unlimited” plan.- For example, on of about January 9, 2018, FARNSWOR"I‘H and
LOWE appeared for a joint interview on Yahoo! Finance. When asked during that interview
whether $9.95 was “too low of a price point,” FARN SWORTH falsely responded, “No,” while
LOWE miéléadingly added that the price point attracted moviego‘ersA whoj orﬂy attended rﬁovies
five times a year. | |

25. Inthat same intemiéw, J. MITCHELL LOWE also made the méterially false and
-fnisleeiding répresentation.that it was “not true at all” that MoviePass needéd movie théatersf ;[O
égree to provide MoviePass with lower ticket p;ficés to turn a profit (i.e., to reduce the difference -
betwéen théi price. MoviePass paid for a move ticket and the amount MoviePass received f'rom
- monthly. subscrlbers) LOWE knew his representatlon was materially false and misleading When
~ he made it because, as described in paragraph 23, LOWE had earher explored the pOSSIblhty of
removing from the; subscrlpuon se‘rylce theaters that charged more than $12 or $13 for a moyle
ticket.

26.  On or about jJanuary 16, 2018,—one week following the Januafy 9, 2018, joint
interview With Yahoo! Fi inan&e— J. MITCHELL LOWE texted THEODORE_
FARNSWORTH and HMNY Executive 1 concermng the losses caused by subscnbers use of the
service for Wthh they were paying and to suggest MoviePass terminate the $9.95 “unlimited”

plan.




27.  The next day, on or ai)éut January .1 7,2018, J. MITCHELL LOWE again texted
THEODORE FARNSWORTH about the need to change the $9.95 “unlimited” plan. In bis
“private coﬁmmication to FARNSWORTH, L‘OWEAacknowledged tﬁat the $9.95 “unlimited”
plan always had been a temporary measure and that it was nof sustainable. |
28.  Approximately one week later, on or about January 26, 2018, J. MITCHELL
- LOWE appeared for a print interview with the 7 he. Hollywood Reporter, and again promoted
tﬁe materially falsé narrafive filat the $9.95 “unlimited” plan was tested, sustainable, and
proﬁtaﬁle:

Interviewer: Is there a point when you’ll just not be able to afford more subs [ie.,
subscribers] because you’re buying them too many tickets?

LOWE: No. I don’t know why everybody believes that our customers are watching so
many movies. At some point we’ll share more data with you and you’ll be shocked. ...

Kok
Interviewer: Is there a point where you’ll need to raise the priée of a sub?

- LOWE: We don’t need to raise the price. I spent a year studying how I can get people who
spend $50 a year going to movies.to spend $120 a year, and $9.95 is the price point that
gets them into the theaters more often.

-29. - J. MITCHELL LOWEZ§ rep;esentations were méterialiy false and misleading

because, in truth and in fact, and as the defendants both knew, no testing had been done on the

$9.95 “unlimited” plan and it was a temporary measure that was unproﬁtable. Indeed, by the time
© of this interview, THEODORE FARN SWORTH an/d. LOWE had already agree;d privately toA
abandon the $9.95 “unlimited” plan. |

30.  Onorabout February 18,2018, while appearing on an episode of the Recode Media

podcast, J. MITCHELL LOWE again falsely represented that MoviePass “tested like crazy until

12 S



we were ready to roll out the $9.95 plan.” At the time LOWE made this representation, he knew

that MoviePass had not tested the $9.95 “unlimited” plan.

31. | bn or about April 13, 2018, Moviefass annognced it was retiring the $9.95
“unlimited” plan. THEODORE FARN SWORTH and J. 'M,I"I‘CHELL LOWE, however,
continued to make materially false and misleading repr:esentations about ‘MoviePass’s subs»cription‘
plan to arf_tiﬁciélly inflate the price of HMNY’S étockf_, For ex;clmple, on or abou’E April 27,2018,
L:O\"VE'tex;c‘ed FARN SWORTH to suggest MoviePass reintroduce the $9.95 “unlimited” plan to
. artificially inflate HMNY’s stock price and cause investors who speculated that the price of HMNY
would decline (commonly referred to és “short sellers” or “shorts™) to “panic”:

LOWE: We could blow peoplgaway if on Wednesday- we do Unlimited for $9.95

FARNSWORTH: I know

LOWE: Wé should

FARNSWORTH: Change the whole story[.] I agree[.] And just keep throttle ing[.] And
not tell anyone

LOWE: The shorts will panic

FARNSWORTH: Omg 4- liéten to you-!--!4!! Your [sic] starting to scare me lol

LOWE: Learning

FARNSWORTH: Lol
bn or about May 2, 2018, fewer than three weeks after it was retiredz the $9.95 “unlimited” plan
was r:eii_ltrOduced 'for'this fraudulent purpose.

32.  Toward the end of June 2018, HMNY received noticé from NASDAQ that its stock -

would be delisted. Toward the end of July 2018, MoviePass ran Qut of money and briefly

suspended %ts service. On or about July 31, '2018, at. the direction of THEODORE

13




i

FARN SWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE, MoviePass issued a press release that was
i di3seminated to investors and the ‘market online-through Business Mré, the South Florida Bus?ness
_qurnalrfwebsite, and an 8-K filed with the SEC, among other means. The press release outlined
for Wintiestors new steps ‘that M’OViePass claimed would “compress its timeline to reach
,p_roﬁtability.f’ ‘ The press release falsely represented that MoviePass was raising the price of its
\ subscription fron’l $9.95 10 $14.95 to increase_protltability. '

7 33 ; ,The:defendants knew this representation Was'mater‘ially false when made because
they did& not actually intend to raise the subscription price to $14.95 and had only announced the
price increase to temporarlly reassure 1nvestors who -were concerned about the companies’

) ﬁnancral cond1t1on and to art1ﬁc1ally inflate HMNY’S stock pnce Moreover in truth and in fact,
- MoviePass announced on August 6, 201 8,}that it would not be 1ncreasrng'the subscrrpt1on price to
$14.95. .

Defendants Made Materially F alse and Misleading Representatlons About HMNY'’s Data
Analyttcs Technology and Capabilities

>’3'4, THEODORE FARN SWORTH and J MITCHELL LOWE repeatedly made the
materially false claim that the strategic rationale behind HMNY'’s acquisition of MoviePass was
,fO enabl_e HMNY to leverage-its data analytics technology and cap-abil'ities to increase shareholder
- value by rnonetizlng MoviePass’s subscriber data. .

35.  For example in HMNY’s August 15, 2017 press release, which was disseminated

o

- to 1nvestors through Buszness Wzre and filed with the SEC on Form 8- K THEODORE ‘

‘FARNSWORTH was quoted as saymg o beheve the- technology platforms that Hehos and
. Matheson has burlt over the years are a perfect fit for the MoviePass famlly[ ] With our blg data
‘and arti_ﬁcial intelligence platforms and other technologies that we own, we Wwill be ablc to bring a

significant techn_ological advantage to MoviePass.”
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36.  These representations in HMNY’s August 15, 2017, press release. were materially
false and.misleading because, in truth and in fact; and as the de_fendants hoth knew, HMNY did
,-'not possess or otherwise “own” the types of »technologies described in the press release, including
“big-data” and “artificial 1ntellrgence platforms or. any other technologles capable of monetizing
MoviePass’s subscrlber data.
37.. ‘Following the Acquisition, THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J MITCHELL
. ' LOWE repeatedly made the materially false.claim that HMNY’s technologies were being used to
analyze MoyiePassis subscriber data and integrated into the MoviePass application. For example,
-~ on Orraho,-utf.Sfeptember 14,2017, HMN Y-issued a press release:that was disseminated to. investors
-and the rnarket?«online through Business Wire, The Miami H_erald website, and an 8-K filed With
the SEC lamongother means. The press release stated:

- 'Us1ng the ‘Helios and Matheson Analytics resources, Mov1ePass Inc. analyzes consumer
trends, patterns and activities to engage subscribers with movie related merchandise,
advertlslng, and concessions relevant to their MoviePass experiences. Helios and Matheson
believes.its technology stack combined with the MoviePass business model will transform
the movie going experience and create great value for both companies. ... Helios and

_ Matheson’s technology learns 1nd1v1dual moviegoer’s tastes and makes recommendations ;

. based on'recorded preferences for specific genres, actors and even the op1n10ns of friends

with 51milar likings. . : : '

- Also in the‘press release, FARNSWORTH- was quoted as saying: “‘This,explains our s'ustainahle

business model: Helios and Matheson.is incorporating advertising models with the MoviePass

-application usmg artiﬁcial-iritelli"gence,. algorithms, and machine learning so we can provide
:'~~ﬂstudi'os with more precise data for.their advertising efforts.”

38.". These representations in HMNY’s.. Septernber 7145 ‘ 20175 press" release were

mater1ally false and m1slead1ng because in truth and in fact, and as the defendants both knew,

HMNY did not possess the types of technologles descrlbed in the press release, HMNY had not
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used any of its technologies to analyze\MoviePass’s subscriber data, and HMNY had not integrated
any of its technologies into the MoviePass application.

39.  Onor about October 24, 2017, HMNY issued a press release that was disseminated

- ~ 'to investors and the market online through  Business Wire, The Miami Herald website, and an 8-K

filed with the SEC, among other means. The press release stated:

Following HMNY’s purchase of a majority stake in MoviePass, which remains subject to

the approval of HMNY's stockholders, HMNY plans to further integrate its data analytics

capabilities with the MoviePass service to analyze moviegoer's behaviors and preferences,
with the goal of helping the film industry better understand what audiences want. With

HMNY's capabilities, HMNY believes that MoviePass can bridge an intelligence gap for

the movie theater industry so the entire film ecosystem can better serve audiences in areas

ranging from production to advertising. )
In the press release, THEODORE FARNSWORTH was quoted as saying: “When you apply
computer science and machine learning to an industry that we believe has lacked significant
innovation, useful patterns start to emerge. ... Together, I believe HMNY and MoviePass can offer
important analytics to movie studios and exhibitors while serving the interests of moviegoers in
the process.”

40.  These representations from HMNY’s October 24, 2017, press. release were
materially false and misleading because, in truth and in fact, and as the defendants both knew,
HMNY did not possess the types of technologies described in the press release, HMNY had not
used any of its technologies to analyze MoviePass’s subscriber data, and HMNY had not integrated

any of its technologies into the MoviePass application.

41. THEODORE F—ARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE also repeatedly

- made the materially false representation that HMNYs.technologies were being integrated into the
MoviePass application to create a revenue stream based on a “Night at the Movies” concept

-whereby MoviePass integrated data about subscribers’ activities before and after they attended a
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movie into its business model. For example, on or about October 16,2017, LOWE appeared for
an interview on Fox Business during which he explained the “Night of the Movies” initiative:
Interviewer: And you said that your company MovrePaSS is planning to make a profit by
selling user-data to Uber, Hollywood Studios, restaurants close to the theaters. Basically,
bottom line is, you say you’re not selling data but you're using the data to inform.
LOWE: Right. You know, people want to go to the movies more often but they don’t want
to take the risk of a bad movie. So, what we do at MoviePass is we help them make a better
~ decision as f_ar as enjoying the movie. But going to the movies there’s much more to it than
~ just going straight to the movie theater. You go to dinner. You might have drinks. You might
- use Uber or Lyft. So, ' we’re going to help our subscriber to get to all those ‘businesses and .

get discount and beneﬁts and —

, Intervrewer So, will Uber pay for that information? Do:the Hollywood restaurants - I
mean, are they payrng for-that data? SRS

LOWE: They will.-As we drive more and more of our subscnbers to their businesses we’l
take a share of the incremental profit. : : '

Interviewer: And how do yeu know Where« people are. going after they go to the movies?

LOWE: Well, you know, today with your phone in.your pocket, people can track pretty

much where you are. You log on to Facebook, they know where you are. When you log in
~ to_our app, we know. where you are. Because we automate your movie subscription by
A essentially what theater 'yeu’re‘ close to.

42. | J. MITCHELL LOWE’s representationswere materially. false-because, in truth
- and m fact, and as the defendants both knew, neither HMNY nor MoviePass tracked or collected
‘data on the location of MoviePass subseribers at any point when the MoviePass. application
was -not active for the- p,urnose of searching for a nearby theater or checking into a theater.
Moreover, as the defendants also-knew, HMNY had not used any of its technologies. to analyze
MoviePass’s ‘subser_-i-ber data; and HMNY had not integrated any of its 'teehnologies into the
MoviePass application. - .t

43. 'I)_uring their January 9, 2018, joint interview on Yahoo!. F: inance, THEODORE

FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE were specifically asked about the source of
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HMNY’s and MoviePass’s revenues. FARNSWORTH and LOWE promoted the materially false -
o and.mi_sleading,njarrative that'HMNY’s'monetiization of ‘MoviePass?s subscribe_r _data'was driving .
tbe companies’ revenues: o
Intervieyyer; How are you possibly making money? -
FARNSWORTH: .Sure.)Well; I.thi'nk, people ask us that all the time. And We’Ve‘ known
- from day one, Helios is a ... analytics company. So when I first got together with Mitch,

-and 'we looked at all the data the analytrcs what it was, that’s really ‘what made us make
- the dec1sron to invest in MoviePass. :

Interviewer: Let’s'work our way through a couple of the short arguments out there. The
idea of selhng data is totally overvalued.. There so much data out there nobody wants to
- buy it. You can’t monetlze the data part g

N FARNSWORTH “When we look at-the data side, it’s a dlfferent story . -that’s where |
you re. maklng your money, on; on the data, the advertising..

VInterV1ewer So what does Helios & Matheson do” Because we report on the stock all the
: tlme and we joke they should “just change therr name to Mov1ePass

r FARNSWORTH Hehos is really a data ‘analytics company, whlch really made the

, perfect marriage of MovrePass and the data analytics of how we’re dr1v1ng the revenues of -
the company right now.

44, e These representatlonswere materially false and misteading because, in truth and 1n ‘

fact, and as tbedefendants both knew, HMNY did not possess the types of tecbnologies_that could

be nse-d( to 'moneti"ze; MoyiePass’s, subscriber data, HMNY had not used any of its"tec}rnolrogies to
_analyZe MoviePass’s sr_lbscr_iber data, and« HMNY had not integrated any of its? tecbnologies in‘to”

~the ‘Mo\jiePass application. | J

. 45, T.be_ defendants also- knew these representations were _materi'ally false and. -

rnisleading;becaiise,vin reality, data analytics wete not driving the companies’ revenues. For the
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 fiscal year that ended nine days prior to that interview, MoviePass reported only revenue from
subscriptions.‘ In the first quarter of 2018, MovieEass reported revenues composed
ovewhelmingly of subscription revenue. Indeed, after one. MoviePass executive notiﬁed.
- THEODORE FARN SWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE about closing a deal, he joked that
it was in an amount that “Doesn’t pay anyonefs_ salary yet.”
- 46. . On or about March 2; 2018 -J. ’MITCHELL LOWE spoke at ,the Entertainment
‘ Fmance Forum giving a speech titled, “Data ] is the New Oil: How Will MoviePass Monetlze 1t?”
.,‘«LOWE repeated his materlally false claim that Mov1ePass gathered data about its subscrlbers by
tracking /thern,through their smart phones as part of its “Night atuthe Movies’1 initiative. LOWE '
- falsely stated:
‘We get an enormous amount of information. ... because you»are'being tracked in your GPS
by the phone, our patent basically turns on and off our payment system- by hooking that
card.to the device ID on your phone, so we watch how you drive from home to the movies.
- We watch where you go afterwards and so.we know the movies you' Watch We know all
about you. : .
* After the’interyieyv;wheri it'was spointe:d out that tracking subscribers violated MoviePass’s privacy -
poiioy; amedia backlash ensued.
- 47. On or about March 7, 2018, one of THEODORE FARNSWORTH’s assistants
- texted FARNSWORTH a statement to make to a reporter, which FARNSWORTH approved.
The statement, which further supported FARNSWORTH’s and J. MITCHELL LOWE’s
‘ materially false narrative about HMNY’s use of data analytics to monetize MoviePass’s subscriber
data, read as follows:
Itisa mystery to me why so many people are surpnsed that HMNY (a-big data analytlcs
company) and MoviePass are using data to innovate the movie industry. ... For months
we’ve been hearing “how does MoviePass plan-to make a profit,” ’ this is how The ‘analysis
and understandmg of consumer behavior is precisely how we are able to dehver a movie a

‘day for $9.95 a 'month to 2. million subscrrbers . What -we will do is turn your data into
’ Valuable marketplace 1nformat10n so that we and everyone ‘we work with can create the best




possrble experience for audiences, the studlos and the exhibitors: That said, Our [sic]
members will always have the option to choose the locatron-based servrces that are right
for them. today and in the future.
- 48.. Onor about March 10 2018, THEODORE FARNSWORTH privately adm1tted
- tOhlS assistant that the representations'he and-J. MITCHELL LOWE had been making about the
“Night at the Movies” 1n1t1at1ve were false FARNSWORTH texted his assistant to cornplaln
“Th1s 1s a major mess- [about] privacy.” His 5ass1stant re_sponded.v “It:s annoylng because we
literally can t do any of it”. FARNSWORTH replied: “We.are ﬁnding out that ‘vive actually ucan
do it. But we don t”. | |
49, On or about March 12; 2018 J. MITCHELL LOWE 1ssued an- emarl apology to

MoviePass’s subscribers, partners, and employees. LOWE admitted that;Mo,vrePass_' “does not

ltrack and has never tracked or collected_ data on the location of our members.at any point when the

app is not active,” and “does not useand has never used [b'ackground tracking capabilities].” -

LOWE clalmed that he was “joking around” when he stated otherwrse :
- 50. On or about March 13, 2018, THEODORE FARNSWORTH prrvately texted J.

MITCHELL LOWE,' admrttlng: ‘»‘O_ur stock is tanking on that letter that went out. They-re

) saying the exact thing I was afraid of that we are not a big data company and we just admitted it -

' f~)71n the letter. We got to-get you on CNBC start changrng the narratrve

51: Throughout the remainder of 2018, through at least March 2019 the .defendants
continued- to promote -the :materially false narratrve that HMNY possessed data analytlcs
“ technologyiand capabilities that it was usin‘g,to monetize MoviePass’s subscriberdata When in

truth and in fact, and as the- defendants knew HMNY d1d not possess any such technology and

) capablhtres
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Defendants Made Materlally Fi alse and Misleading Representatlons About Non-Subscription -
Reven ue : ,

‘52. In addltlon 10 materlally mlsrepresentmg that data analytlcs was a revenue stream

‘.for Mov1ePass THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE promoted a
materlally false and ml_sleadlngv narrative about the‘ ex1stenee‘of multtple other non—subscrlptlon
- streams ‘ofj revenue to help persuade investors that MoyiePass could. vbu‘i/ld’ a snsta_inabrleand
ptoﬁtabie bustness; For example, when ask.ed.. during the September_22', 2’0,147,>‘interview with
Pi?pelihe" F'Data -ﬂho.w, MoviePuass would be proﬁtahle with ‘the’_ $9.95 | “unhmited” plan,
FARNSWORTH responded: o | | |

We’ 11 generate revenue from many sources. T1ckets _concessions, advertlsements . We
‘already have deals:in place. We can also sell soundtracks posters, and other mov1e-related

- products, right from ‘their phones. As soon as they’re walking out of the theater, we’ll

contact them We tested 1t and 5-8% of people buy product from us.
53. T HEODORE FARNSWORTH’S representatlons in thls 1nterv1ew were materlally

- false and mlsleadmg In truth and in fact and as the defendants both knew, at th1s p01nt in tlme

: FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE still did not have a plan. for how to brldge the gap

between the cost of goods assoc1ated Wlth the $9.95 “unhmlted” plan and achlevmg proﬁtablhty

, On or about October 8,201 7,»LO.WE wrote FARN. SWORTH anda team ofMoytePass executives

- to ask them to. brainstorm “ideas” about-how to generate revenue: “So now that we ~ha\fe gotten

* . into month 2 of our new prieing model we will need to create a plan on hov,v»,we get from the

usage level ntho' the desired profitable model in the future. Thls will be etitical to have well _

grouhdedpals”Shfnptions in order to raise growth, capital early in 201 8.”
| :»,54; During ‘the -January 9 2018 Yahoo’ Finance Jomt interview, THEODORE
‘FARNSWORTH falsely stated that “w1th1n the next 51xty days [Mov1ePass] should be self-

‘sufﬁc1ent on 1ts own.’ When asked What revenue- streams Would make that poss1b1e J




MITCHELL LOWE misleadingly claimed that there were “Multiple revenue streams. We’re
signing deals with studios. We’re getting discounts from exhibitors.”

55. The defendants knew that the claim that MoviePass should be self-sufficient within
60 days was materially false and misleading because, in truth and in fact, around the same time
that THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE were publicly claiming that
MoviePass was 60 days from being self-sufficient, they were privately discussing in text messages
the fact that;revery week, MoviePass required millions of dollars frofn* HMNY to survive. As the

defendants also knew, the few deals that MoviePass had signed could not close the company’s

* multi-million-dollar weekly cash shortfall. And, as discussed in the text message described in -

paragraph 26 above, FARNSWORTH privately acknowledged to LOWE tﬁat HMNY was not

prepared to cover the growth in costs resulting from the millions of subscribers attracted by the -

$9.95 “unlimited” plan.

56.-  On or about March 23, 2018, HMNY and MoviéPass issued a joint press release -

that was dis"seminatedbto investors through Business Wire and the South Florida Business Journal
website, among other means. The press release announced that, for a limited time, MoviePass
was offering its annual subscription to new subscribers for $6.95 per month. The press release
~ stated: “Mdﬁx;iePass has gained momentum in diversifying its reveﬁue streams due to a series of
marketing agreements with studios and distributors, as well as partnerships with a number of
theater ekhibitors. This recent success in forming reiationships with studios, éxhibitors, and
marketing partners has encouraged MoviePass to offer an even more attractive deal to
consumers.” Also in the press release, J. MITCHELL LOWE was quoted as saying: “With the
- current growth and support that we’ve seen within the last several months, our stu'diob and exhibitor

revenues and other marketing partnerships have motivated us to lower the price once again,
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offering movie lovers greater access to MoviePass.”

57.  These representations were materially false and misleading because, in truth and
in fgct, and»as the-defendants both knew, THEODORE FARNSWORTH?s and J. MITCHELL
LOWE’s reason for lowering the price was not MoviePass’s ability to generate non-subscription
revenue but, rather, its need to receive the full year’s subscription' payments" up front in order to
try to ease HMNY’; and MoviePass’s cash shortfalls. Indeed, as early as January 2018,
~ FARNSWORTH and LOWE were texting about their desperate need to access “massive cash”
and how an “Annual nlan cen provide cash flow.”

Defendants Made Materially False and Misleading Representations About the Nature and
Cause of MovzePass Subscrtbers’Lower Usage Rates and Associated Drop in Cost of Goods

58. THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE repeatedly pubhcly
assured investors that, based on Ilistorieal data, subscriber usage of the $9.95 “unljmited” plan
~ would naturally decline over time as subscribers settled into a predictable, low rate of usage. Their

talking points were intended to reconcﬂe‘ for investors how MoviePass’s subscriber gfox%rth rate
~could i increase at breakneck speed without the company running out of money As.the defendants.
knew, however this explanation lacked any basis in fact, and subscriber usage did not natnrally
decline ns FARNSWORTH and LOWE had falsely claimed it would.

| 59.  Beginning in or around iJanuary 2018, THEODOREFARNSWORTﬁ‘and J. -
MITCHELL LOWE agreed to artificially rednce subscriber usage through behind_—the-scenes
tactlcs almed at reducing the amount of money that MoviePass spent buylng movie tickets. For
example on January 24,.2018, LOWE texted FARNSWORTH to dlscuss Wthh tactics they

should.use ,agalnst _subscrlbers. ]

LOWE: I need your direction in order to give me time to impact cash flow needs. If we
cant [sic] get sufﬁe1ent funding i can slow down new sub acquisition by reducing card
shipments.

23




C s

- FARNSWORTH: Ok

okl

: LOWE Ok so we will reduce new card malhngs weekly by 60k which will reduce burn -
'startlng in 2 weeks by $600k Weekly and in 5 weeks exceed $2m lower weekly burn

"}FARNS‘WORT_H: Wow -

LOWE Second we are removing 15'Arne [sm] Regal and Cinemarks that will teduce
$500k: weekly[] 3rd we will condtram [sic] usage of 10 plus ysers [51c] probably saving
‘ $500k weekly in next week

60.‘_ -In or. around - April- 2018, as MoviePass’s - cash-flow situation worsened,

- THEODORE FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE directed Moi/iePass employees to
,‘ reset the passwords of the_highest -Volume users: to disrupt or slow their usage of the MoviePass

‘applica-tion\ to buy’movie tickets One M0V1ePass executive Warned LOWE in bolded text that

“there 1s hlgh l'lSk thls would catch the FTC’s attentlon (and the State AG’s attentlon)”,_ )

-, -becausenMQwePass would be © targetlng all of our’ heavy users.” LOWE responded “Ok Igetit” .

- -and selected,thejtop 2% ‘cf the highest volume users for the password reset. LOWE then -

. r‘éconsideied and sélected 'Ehé"75 ,000 ’highest Volu‘rne, users, increasing the percentage of top users
. Who were target’e‘d;frcin 2% tcvrap‘i)rloximately 3.4%. In addition, LOWE also adde'd.a requiremelit

:that the top 7% of the highest Vclunie users be requirﬂevd. tc Tverifry their, pnr(':hases"by ,requiring them
- to take a plcture cf the‘inovi_efticket they purchase;d. LOWE’s- decision to dramati'caliy ek;iand the
- number of dsers who were- subj ect to service ,disruption“ prompted one Mci(i‘e.Pass ekecutiv’e to

- write: “lol, project 2% -7 % -1 1%_,'1401.7’."

- 61. On or about April 14,2018, the day after_the password reset and ticket verification

measures wereimﬁlemented, J. MITCHELL LOWE texted THEOPORE FARNSWORTH to -

lin'formr' him hthat»-theyv had successﬁlllyiprevented pa};ing 'subscribers from buying hundredsof
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thousands Qf'dqllafs’ worth of tickets. FARNSWORTH responded with approval and then sent
LOWE a photo of the private jet that he rented using investor money to fly himself and some

" MoviePass executives to the Coachella Music Festival:

LOWE: ‘We think the tactics we launched yesterday saved $400k
FARNSWORTH: Oh wow -
LOWE I was hoping for more. Today will have less impact because within minutés

Reddit. posted solution to resetting password[.] We did though greatly expand the ticket
verification which reduces almost by 1 movie weekly for those. in the program

Kkk

FARNSWORTH: You would have had a blast on the jet

*kk

LOWE: Looks like fun.

*kk

LOWE: I hope you know how much i admire you. Every day i am more proud to be your -
" partner on this mission. ' '

-62. THEODORE FARN SWbRTH and J. MITCHELL LOWE subsequently
made materially false and misleading representations\reporting that the first quarter reduction in
subscriber usa;ge was the result of a maturation of the subscriber base and naturai decline over
time as sﬁbsc’ribers settled into a predictable, low rate of usage. For examﬁle, on or about May .
16, 2018, HMNY and MoviePasls issued a joint press release titled “[HMNY] aﬂd MoviePass
Report First Quarter Earnings™ that was disseminated to investors through Business Wire, the
_S’outh Florida Busihesﬁ Journal website, and an 8-K ﬁléd with the SEC, among other means. The
press reIéasg announced that HMNY and MoviePass had their “bi:ggjéét quarter” in their combined 7
history and stated: |

Our core strategy has always been to provide a compelling value proposiﬁon to consumers
that vastly improves their movie-going experience. As our subscriber base rapidly grows
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and matures,-our ‘ﬁnanc'ial goal is to breakeven on Suhscribers and g’eneirate‘ alternative
- revenue streams ... Recent trends related to average ticket purchases churning net growth
and reducmg abuse has bolstered our conﬁdence in our economic model being viable and
shows 31gmﬁcant improvement in ach1ev1ng our ob]ectlves MoviePass is releasing key
“metrics that demonstrate significant improvements to its economic ‘model and strong appeal
to-customers. The trendline based on our data- ssuggests this figure will-be reduced further -
in the coming months. As our subscrlber base matures we are” also naturally seeing

.- significantly reduced usage over time.- ;

. 63. ) " These r,epr_eséntations were materlally 'false'and-misleading because, irﬁi‘tmth and in
fact, and as.the defendants both knew, the reduction‘in subscribers’ usage and movie consumption
. was ‘attriblitable to a forced reduction in subscriber usage; not-a maturation ofjthe, subscriber base.
or natural cycle of use. These repre_sentations Were also materially false and misleading because
they omittedvmenﬁon of the fact that, as the‘defendants also knew, M‘QyiePas_s; had selected paying -
subscribers for involuntary inclusion’ in programs to prevent or slow use of the service to buy -
movie ﬁ_ckets based eXclusiVely on the fact that, in the past, these subscribers had used the service

the most

Defendant LOWE Made Materially False and Mzsleadmg Representations to the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commlsszon g

64. Onor abootj July 25, 2022, J. MITCHELLLOWE provided sworn testimony to
“the SEC. ~ Several ansWers_ that LOWE ,pr,ovid-ed< ;in response to the SEC’s questions were
materi‘ally;_false.and misleadi:ng-, and in;[ended";foi dopc¢a1 the n’ature -of the defendants’ fraudulent
seheme and LOWE:’sirol‘e in the scheme. For exa_rhp'le, in respohse to the 'SEC’s questiohs, about '
.,how. LOWE sel'eoted ’fhe' subscribers Whose passwo;ds were reset, LOW}E falsely hef)resented that
4 he tdid not select *the subsohihers h'ased on the_ ?oluh}ei of movie tjohets that they purchased hut for
other feasohs: | o | |

SEC: [Ilisn’t it true though that you were selecting the subscribers whose passwords would
‘be reset based on the heav1est users of the MoviePass- product‘7 4
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LOWE: No, ... And of course, I had many people ask me, well, isn’t that why you targeted
those people. And that’s absolutely not how those people got into that group. They got into
the group because they were changlng their phone more than what seemed reasonable over
a short period of time.

LOWE knew his representation was mate_rially false because LOWE targeted subscribers for the

password reset based on their usage.

65. - Similarly, in response to the SEC’s questions about how J. MITCHELL LOWE
targeted subscribers for ticket verification, LOWE falsely represented that hie did not select them
based on the amoilht of movie tickets that they purchased but for other reasons:

SEC: Sofor ticket verification, is it your testimony like the password reset, there’s a list

. out there with subscribers that you believe are violating MoviePass’s terms of service and
that should be subject to the ticket verification tactic? ’

LOWE;: Yes. ... And again, this is an imperfect science, we would look at various

indicators that at least gave us the belief that it was possible that this individual was

Vlolatmg the Ts and Cs
Like LOWE’s sworn testimony about the password reset, this representation was materially false
because LOWE targeted subscribers for ticket verification based on the volume of movie tickets -

that they purchased.

66. J. MITCHELL LOWE also testified under oath that, prior to July 2018,

- MoviePass did not turn off movie titles from the MoviePass application to conserve the amount of

cash that _it’had to spehd on mqvie tickets. \Thjs, too, was materially false. In truth and \in fact, artd
as LOWE tinew? he began directing Moviet’ass employees to turn off titles from the MoviePass
apphcatlon as early as January 2018. | |

- 67. When asked by the - SEC about representat1ons made in a draft Form 10-Q, J.

MITCHELL LOWE falsely stated “I don t even know what a IOQ is.” In truth and in fact

- LOWE npt only had knowledge of particular HMNY 10-Qs aboutwhiéh he cpnespoqded by

email, but he also had knowledge of the terminology more generally. For example, in a text to
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THEODORE FARNSWORTH on or about May 13, 2018, LOWE speciﬁcaﬂy rf:ferenced “the
. Q-” A
In violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78] and 78ff; Tit_le 17, Code of Federal
| Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; and Title 18, United States Code, ”S-ection 2.
| COUNTS 2-4
Wire Fraud
(18 U.S.C. § 1343)
1. The General Allegations section of this Indictment is hereby re-alleged and fully
incorporated herein by reference.
2. From at least in or around August 2017, and continuing through at least in or around

March 2019, within the Southern District of Florida and elsewhere, the defendants,

THEODORE FARNSWORTH and
J. MITCHELL LOWE,

di‘d knowingly, and with the intent to defraud, devise, and intend to devise a scheme and artifice
‘to defraud, and to obtain money and property by. nieans of materially false and fraudulent

" pretenses, iépresentations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, representations, and
- promises were false and fraﬁdulent when made, and, for the purpose of executing such scheme and
artifice, did: kﬁowingly transmit and cause to be transmitted, by meané of wire communications in
interstate and foreign com_mefce, certain writings, signals, pictures, and sounds.

PURPOSE OF THE SCHEME:AND ARTIFICE

3. It was the pufpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants, THEODORE
. FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL LOVVE, to unjustly enrich themselves by: (i) making
materially false and misleading representations to investors relating to the businesses and
operations of HMNY and MoviePass, including HMNY’s and MoviePass’s product offerings,

technology, and capabilities, in-order to artificially increase the price of HMNY common stock
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and attract new investors; (ii) concealing from investors the true facts; (iii) diverting the proceeds
of the scheme and artifice for their personal use and benefit through bonuses and misuse of
corporate. funds for personal expenses; and (iv) concealing the scheme from regulators, law

enforcement, investors, and the media.

| MANNER AND MEANS OF THE SCHEME AND ARTIFICE
4. The Manner and Mearis section of Count 1 of this Indictment is hereby re-alleged

and fﬁlly incorporated herein by reference.

USE OF WIRES
5. On or about the dates specified as to each count below, in the Southern District of
‘Florida, a.nd elsewhere, the defendants, for the purpose of executing and in furtherance of the
aforesa'ig_i‘scher-ne and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money and propérty by means of materially
félSe and fréudulent 'ﬁreténses, represrentations, and promises, knowing that the prefenses,
rep'rq‘sentations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, did knowingly transmit and
cause to be trains%ﬁitted, by means of wire communication in interstate.and foreign commerce,

certain writings, signals, pictures, and sounds, as ‘particulaﬂy described below:

Count ‘ Approximate Date Description of Interstate Wire

| Press release - jointly - issued by HMNY and
, . | MoviePass that was disseminated via interstate
2 : March 23, 2018 wire to investors and the market online; including
' k via the South Florida Business Journal within the
Southern District of Florida.

Press release jointly issued by HMNY and

: MoviePass that was disseminated via interstate
3 . May 16,2018 wire to investors and the market online, including
S o -via the South Florida Business Jour;gaZA within the
| Southern District of Florida. - ‘

29




Count s Approximate Date Description of InterstateVWire, :

‘Press release issued by MoviePass that was
15 - | disseminated via interstate wire to investors and
4 ~ July 31,2018 “the market online, including via the South Florida
— ' Business Journal Within the Southern 'Distriet of

1 Florida.

~ In violation of Title 18, United States Code, S‘ections 1343 and 2(aj.’ :

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

1. The allegations of this Indlctment are hereby re- alleged and by this reference fully“
7 incorpOrated;herein for the purpose of allegrng forfeiture tothe UnitediStates Of America of eertaln
property in which any of the defendants, THEODORE. FARNSWORTH and J. MITCHELL
' LOWE,havean intere_st;‘ | o - o
‘2,’;;7 B Upon conyiction ‘ofa violation of Title 15, U_nited States Codez Sections 78] and

78ff or'Title' 18, ;United 'States CodeiSect—iOn 1343, as alleged in .this Indictment, the defendant shall -

o forfert to the Umted States any property, real or personal which constitutes oris derrved from 7

| proceeds traceable to such offense pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Seetion 981(a)(1)(C)
3. Ifany of the property subject to forfelture, as a result of any act or omission of the
-' defendants: | - )
~a. cannotbe located upon the exercrse of due drlrgence
. b.‘ | has been transferred or sold to, or deposited W1th a third party
c. Has been placed beyond the _]uI"lSdlCthIl of the court;
d. has be_en substantiallyjdiniinished in value; or
e. | has\been,commingled With other property which c“an‘not be:divided without ”
difficulty. | |
the United»:State:s shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property under the provisions of fitle
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21, United States Code, Section 853(p).
All pursuant to Title 18 Umted States Code, Sectlon 981(a)(1)(C) Title 21, Umted States

Code, SCCthH 853 and Title 28 United States Code Sectlon 2461(c)

'ATRUEBILL

O ~ FORHPERSON
ANTONI GONZALEZ

~ UN ED STATES#ITORNEY |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT QF FLORIDA

GLE’NN s

- CHIEF - %

FRAUD SECTION DIVISION

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF_JUSTICE S

" M@L

CHRISTOPHE FE ‘ON , o |
- TRIAL ATTO . - o o
 FRAUD SECTION CRI L DIVISION R

- UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
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